
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Administration 
Keene Simonds, Executive Officer 
2550 Fifth Avenue, Suite 725 
San Diego, California 92103 
T  619.321.3380   
www.sdlafco.org 

 

Vice Chair Jim Desmond 
County of San Diego  
 

Nora Vargas 
County of San Diego  
 

Joel Anderson, Alt. 
County of San Diego   

San Diego County  
Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

Jo MacKenzie 
Vista Irrigation  
 

Barry Willis  
Alpine Fire Protection  
 

David Drake, Alt. 
Rincon del Diablo 

Paul McNamara  
City of Escondido  

Mary Casillas Salas  
City of Chula Vista   
 

Kristi Becker, Alt. 
City of Solona Beach  

Chair Andy Vanderlaan 
General Public  
 

Harry Mathis, Alt. 
General Public  

Chris Cate 
City of San Diego  
 

Marni von Wilpert, Alt.  
City of San Diego  

7a 
AGENDA REPORT 
Business | Action 

 
 
November 1, 2021   
 
TO:                Commissioners 
 
FROM:               Holly O. Whatley, Commission Counsel  
 
SUBJECT:  Fourth Amendment to Employment Agreement with Executive Officer  
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
The San Diego County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) annually evaluates 
the performance of  its Executive Officer under adopted policy.       The Commission’s 
evaluation follows receipt of the review and recommendation of its Executive Officer 
(EO) Compensation Committee, and this includes considering whether amendments to 
the  employment  agreement  are  merited.  The  EO  Compensation  Committee 
recommends  amending EO Keene Simonds’ employment  agreement  to  increase his 
annual  salary  commensurate  with  the  Committee’s  evaluation  of  performance  as 
“outstanding.”  The proposed amendment is attached as Exhibit C, with the amount of 
the increase left open until full Commission discussion has concluded.   
 
BACKGROUND 
 
San Diego LAFCO appointed Keene Simonds as EO in September 2017.   The employment 
agreement is provided as Attachment One.   The Commission has proceeded to approve 
three  amendments  as  part  of  subsequent  annual  reviews.    These  amendments  are 
provided as Attachments Two through Four. 
 

 
 



San Diego LAFCO  
November 1, 2021 Meeting 
Agenda Item No. 7a | Amendment to Executive Officer Agreement  
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

DISCUSSION 
 
The  EO  Compensation  Committee  (Vanderlaan,  Desmond,  and MacKenzie) met  on 
September 3, 2021 as part of Keene Simonds’ annual performance review process and 
recommends a salary increase commensurate with his overall performance rating level 
of “outstanding.”   The EO Compensation Committee  last  reviewed Keene Simonds’ 
performance in August 2020 with the Commission proceeding to vote unanimously to 
increase his annual salary by 2% percent from $182,624 to $186,277.   
 
ANALYSIS  
 
San Diego LAFCO’s EO Committee members will be prepared to recommend a specific 
increase  for  the  full  Commission’s  consideration  commensurate  with  the  EO’s 
evaluation rating of outstanding at the November 1st meeting.   The potential changes 
to salary and benefits contemplated by the Committee are within San Diego LAFCO’s 
existing budget appropriations and shall be  incorporated  into Attachment Five upon 
Commission approval. 
 
A listing of salaries for executive officers for Southern California LAFCO’s is provided for 
comparisons as Attachment Six.    
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended San Diego LAFCO receive a report from its EO Compensation Committee 
and consider an amendment to the EO agreement accordingly.     This recommendation  is 
consistent with Alternative Action One in the proceeding section.  
 
ALTERNATIVES FOR ACTION  
 
The following alternatives are available to San Diego LAFCO:  

 
Alternative One (recommended):    
Consider  the EO Compensation Committee’s  report and associated  recommendations 
and  approve  an  amendment  to  the Executive Officer’s employment  agreement with 
signing authorization to the Chair.  
 
Alternative Two:    
Continue consideration of the item to a future meeting and provide direction as needed.   
 
Alternative Three: 
Take no action.  
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PROCEDURES    
 
This item has been placed on the agenda for action as part of San Diego LAFCO’s business 
calendar.  The following procedures, accordingly, are recommended.  
 

1)   Receive verbal report from the EO Compensation Committee.  
2)   Commission discussion.    
3)   Consider the Commission Counsel’s recommendation.  

 
Respectfully,  
 
 
 
Holly O. Whatley 
Commission Counsel  
 
 
Attachments:     
1 – Employment Agreement with Keene Simonds  
2 – First Amendment  
3 – Second Amendment  
4 – Third Amendment  
5 – Proposed Fourth Amendment  
6 – Chart of EO Salaries for Southern California LAFCOs  
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

RECITAL 

On October 3, 2018 the San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission unanimously 

approved amending the Employment Agreement originally entered into between the 
San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission (hereafter "LAFCO") and Keene 

Simonds ("Executive Officer") on September 11, 2017. Such approved amendments 

followed the Executive Officer's annual performance review and are made as permitted 

by Paragraph 19 of the Employment Agreement. The Parties agree as follows: 

AMENDMENTS 

1. Paragraph 4 ("Compensation"), subparagraph "A" is hereby amended in its

entirety to read as follows:

A. Effective as of the first day of the first pay period following the Executive

Officer's one-year anniversary date September 11, 2017, the Executive Officer's

annual salary shall be $168,000 and as otherwise provided in section 6.20 of

LAFCO's Personnel Rules ("Rules").

2. Paragraph 7 ("Vacation Leave"), subparagraph "A" is hereby amended in its

entirety to read as follows:

A. Executive Officer shall be afforded vacation benefits provided for Executive

Management per San Diego County's Compensation Ordinance Section 4.2.1-
Vacation. At present, this affords 15 days per year for employees with one to four

years' service, 20 days per year for employees with five to 14 years' service, and

25 days per year to employees with 15 years of service and over. Accruals are
credited on a biweekly basis and available for use as it is accrued. The effective

date of this vacation accrual formula is retroactive to the start date of the

Executive Officer's employment with LAFCO on September 11, 2017 and is
intended to adjust the Executive Officer's vacation benefits from the inception of

his employment to be consistent with the executive management vacation

benefits afforded County of San Diego executive management employees.

3. All other recitals, paragraphs, subparagraphs and clauses of the Agreement

remain unchanged by this First Amendment to Employment Agreement.
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Approved as to form: 

�4� HonyO.at1� 
General Counsel 

Attest: 

Tamaron Luckett 

LAFCO Clerk 

239659.1 

Dated: ----4,L//;,#,-1_�-4-/_�_c_..:, __

Dated: ________ _ 
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FOURTH AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

RECITAL 

On _________, 2021 the San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission approved 

amending the Employment Agreement Between the San Diego Local Agency Formation 

Commission (hereafter “LAFCO”) and Keene Simonds (“Executive Officer”) dated 

September 11, 2017 (“Employment Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A.  The 

Employment Agreement has been amended three times, and the First, Second and 

Third Amendments are attached hereto as Exhibit B.  This Fourth Amendment 

approved on _________, 2021 following the Executive Officer’s annual performance 

review and is made as permitted by Paragraph 19 of the Employment Agreement. The 

Parties agree as follows: 

AMENDMENT 

1. Paragraph 4 (“Compensation”), subparagraph “A” is hereby amended in its

entirety to read as follows:

A. Effective as of the first day of the first pay period following the Executive

Officer’s hiring anniversary date September 11, 2021, the Executive Officer’s

annual salary shall be $__________ and as otherwise provided in section 6.20 of

LAFCO’s Personnel Rules (“Rules”).

2. All other recitals, paragraphs, subparagraphs and clauses of the Employment

Agreement and the Vacation Leave amendment in the First Amendment to

Employment Agreement remain unchanged by this Forth Amendment to Employment

Agreement.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Dated:  

Keene Simonds 

LAFCO 

Dated:  

Andy Vanderlaan, Chair 
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Approved as to form: 

 

 

   

Holly O. Whatley 

General Counsel 

 

 

 

 

 

Dated:    

Attest:  

 

 

   

Tamaron Luckett 

LAFCO Clerk 

 

 

 

Dated:    
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